PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI TO THE  
COURT OF APPEALS

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

---

Appeal from RICHLAND COUNTY  
Joseph M. Strickland, Master in Equity  
Court of Common Pleas

---

Case No. 2011-CP-40-08074  
Appellate Case No. 2014-000140  
**Opinion No. 2015-UP-444**

---

**RECEIVED**

NOV 23 2015

**S.C. Supreme Court**

Bank of America, N.A., ..... Respondent

v.

Duce Staley, Felicia Woods a/k/a Felicia B. Woods, SCBT, N.A., South Carolina Department of Revenue, Palmetto Health, Manheim Automotive Financial Services, Inc., and Spring Valley Homeowners' Association, Defendants,

And Willie Zimmerman, Third Party Participant, ..... Appellant

---

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

COUNTY OF RICHLAND

Bank of America, N.A.,

PLAINTIFF,

vs.

Duce Staley, Felicia Woods a/k/a Felicia B. Woods, SCBT, N.A., South Carolina Department of Revenue, Palmetto Health, Manheim Automotive Financial Services, Inc., and Spring Valley Homeowners' Association,

DEFENDANTS.

IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS

MASTER'S ORDER AND JUDGMENT OF FORECLOSURE AND SALE

(NON-JURY MORTGAGE FORECLOSURE)

C/A NO: 2011-CP-40-8074

DEFICIENCY WAIVED

2012 SEP 21 PM 12:40  
FILED  
RICHLAND COUNTY  
COURT  
CLERK  
C.C.P. & G.S.

F11-06934

TO:

Korn Law Firm, P.A.  
Attorney for Plaintiff

Milton G. Kimpson, Attorney  
South Carolina Department  
of Revenue

Edward L. Grimsley, Attorney  
SCBT, N.A

Willie F. Bradley, Jr., Attorney  
for Felicia Woods

Michael J. Polk, Attorney  
for Manheim Automotive  
Financial Services, Inc.

Pursuant to Rule 53 SCRPC, the above-entitled matter was referred to the undersigned to make appropriate findings of fact and conclusions of law with authority to enter a final judgment in the cause.

Pursuant to the said Order of Reference a hearing was held, attended by the attorneys of record, the testimony was taken, which is reported herewith, and from the testimony and evidence, I find conclude and order as follows:

FINDINGS OF FACT:

1. The Lis Pendens was filed on November 23, 2011.
2. The Summons and Complaint were filed on November 23, 2011.
3. Service was made upon the Defendant(s) named in this Report as is shown by the Proof(s) of Service filed herein.
4. That the Defendants Duce Staley, Felicia Woods a/k/a Felicia B. Woods, Palmetto Health and Spring Valley Homeowners' Association are in default as shown by Affidavit on file herein.
5. The Defendants and/or all attorneys of record were notified of the time, date, and place of the hearing in this matter.

6. According to the Affidavit filed herein, no Defendant in default is in the Military Service of the United States of America, as contemplated under the Soldiers' and Sailors' Civil Relief Act of 1940, and any amendments thereto.

7. For value received, Duce Staley made, executed and delivered a Note dated December 10, 2004, promising thereby to pay to the order of Countrywide Bank, a Division of Treasury Bank, N.A., its successors and assigns the sum of Three Hundred Fifty Thousand And 00/100 Dollars (\$350,000.00), with interest at an adjustable rate pursuant to the terms of said Note percent per annum. Other terms and conditions are stated in the Note, which is of record herein.

8. To better secure the payment of the Note described above, the said Duce Staley made, executed and delivered to Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems, Inc., as nominee for Countrywide Bank, a Division of Treasury Bank, N.A., its successors and assigns a Mortgage in writing, dated December 10, 2004, covering real property in Richland County, which is the same as that described in the Complaint. The mortgage was filed on December 16, 2004, and is of record in the Office of the Register of Deeds for Richland County in Mortgage Book 01006 at page 3109.

9. Thereafter, by virtue of an assignment dated October 14, 2011, recorded October 25, 2011, in Mortgage Book 1716 at page 1677; Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems, Inc. assigned said mortgage unto Bank of America, N.A. Bank of America, N.A. is present lien holder and Plaintiff herein.

10. The above referenced instrument constitutes a first lien priority mortgage.

11. Payment due on the Note has not been made as provided for therein, and the Plaintiff, as the holder thereof, has elected to require immediate payment of the entire amount due thereon and has placed the Note and Mortgage in the hands of the attorney herein for collection.

12. I find that since the inception of this action, plaintiff's attorney has assumed responsibility for the institution of this action and has searched and updated the title on the subject property from the date the current owner received the property or the date the mortgage was executed to the date of the filing of the Lis Pendens. He has been responsible for the preparation of the following pleadings:

1. Lis Pendens
2. Summons and Complaint
3. Affidavit of Default
4. Order of Reference
5. Notice of Hearing
6. Proposed Final Decree
7. Notice of Sale
8. Transcript of Testimony
9. Other documents as applicable pertaining to service and finalization of this action.

Additionally, he has arranged for service of process on the defendant(s), has scheduled and attended the hearing in this matter, has provided reinstatement figures to the primary defendant, if requested, and has

had telephone conversations with the defendant(s), if requested. Future duties include forwarding copies of the Decree to the defendant(s), advising the defendant(s) of the date that the property will be sold, arranging and coordinating the amount to be bid by plaintiff, representation of plaintiff at sale and preparation of after sale documentation as required. In light of the potential liabilities inherent in a property matter, the attendant responsibilities and the size of the mortgage debt, I find that the attorney fees requested by the plaintiff in the amount of one thousand four hundred seventy and 00/100 (\$ 1,470.00) are reasonable.

13. The amount due and owing on the Note, with interest at the rate provided in the Note, and other costs and expenses of collection, including an attorney's fee, secured by the Note and Mortgage, is as follows:

(a)	Principal due as of 11/1/2010	\$343,224.21
(b)	Interest from 10/1/2010 through 8/20/2012 at 3.375%	\$ 20,278.74
(c)	Escrow adjustments (debits or credits)	\$ 24,378.61
	Insurance \$6,677.80	
	Taxes \$17,700.81	
(d)	Late charges	\$ 86.44
(e)	Property Inspections	\$ 130.00
(f)	Costs of Collections Prior to Hearing	\$ 1,268.20
(g)	Attorney Fees	\$ 1,470.00
	<b>TOTAL DEBT</b> secured by Note and Mortgage, including interest to date shown	<b>\$390,886.20</b>

Interest for the period from the date shown in (b) above, through the date of this Judgment at the above stated rate to be added to the above stated "Total Debt" to comprise the amount of the judgment debt entered herein and interest after the date of judgment at the rate of an adjustable rate pursuant to the terms of said Note percent per annum (pursuant to the terms of the Note and Mortgage) on the judgment debt should be added to such judgment debt to comprise the amount of Plaintiff's debt secured by the mortgage through the date to which such interest is computed.

14. That the Defendant, SCBT, N.A., a/k/a South Carolina Bank and Trust, N.A., is made a party by virtue of a

Mortgage given by Duce Staley to South Carolina Bank and Trust, N.A., dated May 26, 2005 and recorded June 1, 2005, in Mortgage Book R 1059 at Page 698, in the amount of \$300,000.00.

15. That the Defendant, South Carolina Department of Revenue, is made a party by virtue of a State Tax Lien obtained against Felicia Woods, dated September 20, 2010 and recorded October 15, 2010, in Book R 1638 at Page 2939, in the amount of \$13,448.66.

16. That the Defendant, Palmetto Health, f/k/a Palmetto Health Alliance d/b/a Palmetto Richland Mem Hosp., is made a party by virtue of a Judgment obtained by Palmetto Health Alliance d/b/a Palmetto Richland Mem Hosp. against Felicia B. Woods, dated November 21, 2001 and recorded December 14, 2001, in the amount of \$585.00 and identified as Judgment Roll # 239893.

17. That the Defendant, Manheim Automotive Financial Services, Inc., is made a party by virtue of a Default Judgment obtained against Felicia B. Woods, et al, dated September 18, 2001 and recorded August 15, 2003, in the amount of \$70,223.04 and identified as Judgment Roll # 249875 and also identified as Judgment Case # 2001-CP-40-3888B.

18. That the Defendant, Spring Valley Homeowners' Association, is made a party by virtue of any homeowners liens or assessments recorded or unrecorded that are due or that may become due in the future.

19. That the Plaintiff specifically waives its rights to a deficiency judgment in the event the sale of the real estate herein does not yield a sum sufficient to satisfy all indebtedness due to the Plaintiff, including costs and attorney fees.

20. Since a personal or deficiency judgment is being waived, the bidding will not remain open but compliance with the bid may be made immediately.

21. That the servicer is participating in the Home Affordable Modification Program (HMP). The HMP modification process specified by the Guidelines or Supplemental Directive has been completed without resulting in a modification because borrower's financial status did not meet requirements of HMP and subject property is not the borrower's primary residence.

#### CONCLUSION OF LAW

I, therefore, conclude as follows:

1. The Plaintiff should have judgment of foreclosure of the mortgage and the mortgaged property should be ordered sold at public auction after due advertisement.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECREED:

1. There is due to the Plaintiff on the obligation and mortgage set forth in the Complaint the sum of Three Hundred Ninety Thousand Eight Hundred Eighty-Six And 20/100 Dollars (\$390,886.20) representing the "Total Debt" due Plaintiff as set forth supra, together with interest at the rate provided therein on the balance of principal from the date aforesaid to the date hereof.

2. The amount due in the preceding paragraph (the "Total Debt" as set forth supra and later accrued interest on the principal) shall constitute the total judgment debt due the Plaintiff and shall bear interest hereafter at the rate of an adjustable rate pursuant to the terms of said Note percent per annum.

3. That the Defendants liable for the aforesaid mortgage debt shall, on or before the date of sale of the property hereinafter described, pay to the Plaintiff, or Plaintiff's attorney the amount of Plaintiff's debt as aforesaid, together with the costs and disbursements of this action.

4. That on default of payment at or before the time herein indicated, the mortgaged premises described in the Complaint, as hereinafter set forth, be sold by the Master in Equity at public auction at the Richland County Courthouse in Columbia, South Carolina, on some convenient sales day hereafter (and should the regular day of judicial sales fall on a legal holiday, then and in the such event, the sales day shall be on Tuesday next succeeding such holiday), on the following terms, that is to say:

A. FOR CASH: The Master in Equity will require a deposit of Five percent (5%) on the amount of the bid (in cash or equivalent) at the time of the sale, same to be applied on the purchase price only upon compliance with the bid, but in case of non-compliance within Twenty (20) days same to be forfeited and applied to the costs and Plaintiff's debt.

B. Interest on the balance of the bid shall be paid to the day of compliance at the rate of an adjustable rate pursuant to the terms of said Note percent.

C. The sale shall be subject to taxes and assessments, existing easements and easements and restrictions of record.

D. The above referenced instrument constitutes a first lien priority mortgage.