IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

---

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
Case No. 2014-000140  
Joseph M. Strickland, Master in Equity

---

Opinion Number 2015- UP- 444  
S.C. Ct. App., Filed August 26, 2015

---

**RECEIVED**

DEC 18 2015

**S.C. Supreme Court**

Bank of America, N.A. ....Respondent,

v.

Duce Staley, Felicia Woods a/k/a Felicia B. Woods,  
SCBT, N.A., South Carolina Department of Revenue,  
Palmetto Health, Manheim Automotive, Financial Services,  
Inc., and Spring Valley Homeowners Association .....Defendants,

And Willie Zimmerman, Third Party Participant .....Appellant.

---

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR A

**COUNTER-STATEMENT OF THE QUESTIONS PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

1. Does the decision of the Court of Appeals warrant this Court’s discretionary review under the considerations of Rule 242, SCACR?
2. Did the Court of Appeals properly affirm the lower court’s Order Vacating Sale because the Appellant failed to preserve any issues for review?

**COUNTER-STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Bank of America, N.A. (Respondent), filed its Summons and Complaint seeking Non-Jury Mortgage Foreclosure against Duce Staley on November 23, 2011. On September 20, 2012, Judge Joseph M. Strickland executed an order granting foreclosure and directed the foreclosure sale of the subject property on April 1, 2013 requiring the successful bidder to deposit five percent at sale and to fully comply with the remaining bid within twenty days. At sale, Willie Zimmerman (Appellant) placed the highest bid and deposited five percent with the court. Appellant failed to provide the remaining ninety five percent of the bid within twenty days and Judge Strickland vacated the sale by order on July 30, 2013 and returned Appellant's deposit. Appellant did not object at the subsequent hearing to address the bidding deficiencies or seek reconsideration. Appellant similarly bid at sale on September 3, 2013, submitted five percent of the bid and failed to provide the remaining ninety five percent within the prescribed time. Appellant did not object at the subsequent hearing to address the bidding deficiencies or seek reconsideration of the later filed Order Vacating the Sale. The Court of Appeals affirmed the Master’s Order Vacating the Sale and denied a subsequent petition for rehearing on

October 23, 2015. The Petition for Writ of Certiorari was filed and served by mail on November 20, 2015.

### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

This appeal concerns the foreclosure of a mortgage given to Bank of America, N.A. (Respondent) by the mortgage loan borrower Duce Staley. Pursuant to the default of the mortgage loan, Respondent filed a mortgage foreclosure on November 23, 2011. The action was subsequently referred to The Honorable Joseph M. Strickland, as Master in Equity for Richland County, pursuant to Rule 53 of the *South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure* on March 24, 2012. An Order of Foreclosure and Sale (Foreclosure Order) was entered on September 20, 2012, ordering the foreclosure of the mortgage and the judicial sale of the mortgaged property. The Foreclosure Order further requires that a successful bidder at the judicial sale of the property deposit five percent of the sales price on the day of sale and to fully comply with the bid within twenty days of the sale. (R. p. 4, ¶ 22). Willie Zimmerman (Appellant) was the winning bidder at the judicial sale, which took place on April 1, 2013. Appellant deposited five percent of the bid amount with the court, but did not provide the remaining amount within twenty days of the sale, as required by the Foreclosure Order. A hearing was held on June 21, 2013 regarding Appellant's failure to comply with the bid. Thereafter, on July 30, 2013, Judge Strickland entered an order vacating the April 1, 2013, sale (Order Vacating Sale), and Appellant's deposit was returned. (R. p. 33-34). No request for reconsideration or appeal was had from the entry of that Order Vacating Sale. (R. p. 24, lines 2-11). The property was again sold on September 3, 2013, and Appellant was again the winning bidder. Appellant

submitted the five percent deposit, but then failed to comply with the remaining bid amount within twenty days of the sale, as required by the Foreclosure Order. The time for Appellant to comply was extended until December 16, 2013 (Order Allowing Extension). The Order Allowing Extension further provided that if the bid was not complied with by December 16, 2013, the sale would be set aside and re-sold in January 2014. (R. pp. 58-59). An Order Vacating Sale and Forfeiture of Deposit was filed on December 17, 2013, after the bid was not complied with by the previously extended deadline (December 17, 2013 Order Vacating Sale). (R. pp. 60-61). Appellant did not object to or otherwise seek to alter or amend the December 17, 2013 Order Vacating Sale. Appellant's Notice of Appeal was filed on January 6, 2014.

The Court of Appeals affirmed the Master's order vacating the foreclosure sale in an unpublished opinion entered on August 26, 2015, in Unpublished Opinion No. 2015-UP-444. The Court of Appeals determined that Appellant did not properly preserve any issues for appeal. A petition for rehearing was filed by the Appellant on September 8, 2015, and an Order Denying Petition for Rehearing was filed on October 23, 2015.

### **ARGUMENT**

Pursuant to Rule 242(f), SCACR, Respondent files this Return to the Petition for Writ of Certiorari filed by Appellant, seeking review of the Court of Appeals' decision in this case.

The decision of the Court of Appeals does not warrant review under Rule 242, SCACR. Further, the Court of Appeals properly and correctly applied South Carolina

law. Accordingly, this Court should not be persuaded by the Appellant's arguments and should deny the Petition for Writ of Certiorari.

**III. THE DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS DOES NOT WARRANT THIS COURT'S DISCRETIONARY REVIEW UNDER THE CONSIDERATIONS OF RULE 242, SCACR.**

In his Petition for Writ of Certiorari, Appellant does not set forth any special or important reason, pursuant to Rule 242, SCACR, why this Court should review the Court of Appeals' decision and this case presents no compelling reason to grant discretionary review under Rule 242, SCACR. Consequently, Appellant's Petition for Writ of Certiorari should be denied.

Pursuant to Rule 242 (b), SCACR, "a writ of certiorari is not a matter of right, but of sound judicial discretion, and will be granted only where there are special and important reasons." The Rule further notes five situations that indicate the character of reasons the Court will consider when deciding whether to accept a Writ of Certiorari. Rule 242, SCACR. The case at bar does not present any of the types of questions or issues traditionally necessary to be considered by the Supreme Court.

Here, the Court of Appeals decided this matter, without dissent, in an unpublished opinion. In that unpublished opinion, the Court of Appeals correctly applied relevant and settled precedent. Appellant has not demonstrated any "special and important reasons" to grant the Petition to review the Court of Appeals' decision in this matter, and no such "special and important reasons" exist in this case. This matter (1) does not involve a novel question of law; (2) did not contain a dissent in the decision of the Court of Appeals; (3) did not involve a decision of the Court of Appeals that is in conflict with a prior decision of this Court; (4) does not involve substantial constitutional issues that are

directly involved; and (5) does not include a federal question or a decision of the Court of Appeals that conflicts with a decision of the United States Supreme Court. Appellant has not asserted, nor can he, that this case merits any further appellate review.

Based on the foregoing, there is no basis on which it would be proper for this Court to grant Appellant's Petition. Appellant has had a full and fair opportunity to brief his arguments and the Court of Appeals reviewed the case and affirmed the lower court's Order Vacating Sale. Furthermore, Appellant's arguments in his Petition for Writ of Certiorari are identical to those that were rejected by the Court of Appeals in its Order denying Appellant's petition for rehearing *en banc*. Accordingly, this Court should decline the Appellant's Petition for Writ of Certiorari.

**IV. THE COURT OF APPEALS PROPERLY AFFIRMED THE MASTER'S ORDER VACATING SALE BECAUSE APPELLANT FAILED TO PRESERVE ANY ISSUES FOR REVIEW.**

The Court of Appeals correctly found that Zimmerman's issues raised on appeal were not preserved for review because Zimmerman did not timely object to or otherwise seek relief from either the July 30, 2013 Order Vacating Sale or the December 17, 2013 Order Vacating Sale.

"It is well settled that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial court to be preserved." *Pye v. Estate of Fox*, 369 S.C. 555, 565, 633 S.E.2d 505, 510 (2006). "If the losing party has raised an issue in the lower court, but the court fails to rule upon it, the party must file a motion to alter or amend the judgment in order to preserve the issue for appellate review." *I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000); *see also*

Rule 59(e), SCRCP. A contemporaneous objection is required to preserve an issue for appellate review. *Hill v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Envtl. Control*, 389 S.C. 1, 23, 698 S.E.2d 612, 624 (2010).

Review of the transcript shows that when Judge Strickland, Master in Equity of Richland County, ordered the resale of the property and vacated the first judicial sale there was no objection by or on behalf of the Appellant. (R. p. 24, lines 2-11). Similarly, Appellant did not file a motion for reconsideration. Rule 59(e), SCRCP. Without making a timely objection at hearing on June 21, 2013, moving the court to reconsider its order vacating sale executed July 30, 2013 or timely filing his notice of appeal, Appellant did not preserve this issue for appeal. Appellant also failed to move for reconsideration of the December 17, 2013 Order Vacating Sale.

For these reasons, Appellant's issues are not preserved for review and the Court of Appeals properly affirmed the Master's Order on those grounds.

## CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing reasons, the Court should decline to issue a writ of certiorari to review the Court of Appeals' decision affirming the Master's ruling.